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The Trustees present their annual report and consolidated financial statements. This
includes the financial results of St John's Foundation Est. 1174 ('St John's' or ‘the
Charity’) and its subsidiary, St John's Hospital Trading Company Ltd for the year ended
31 December 2023. This report is prepared in line with the Charities Act 2011 and SORP
(FRS 102).

For 850 years, St John’s Foundation has been changing people’s lives, for good with the
Charity’s objects being to provide almshouse accommodation and relief to those who
are in need by reason of age, ill-health, disability, financial hardship or other
disadvantage within Bath and the surrounding area.

In 2020, we launched our Foundation Fund to ensure that every child under 12 has the
chance to grow up as a healthy, happy, and educated member of our community. We
work to provide children the support they need to lead fulfilling, independent lives
beyond school and into older age. We are determined to narrow the primary school
educational attainment gap, which is particularly acute in our area. This is to ensure that
underserved children in the local area can get the best start in life and we have started to
refer to this programme as ‘Best Start in Life’ rather than the Foundation Fund as we feel
it better reflects its ambition.

Alongside this, we continue our long-standing work providing older people with housing
and outreach services. With older adults now outnumbering younger people in our
region, it’s more important than ever that we foster an age-friendly community,
promoting independent living for longer.

Our city and the neighbourhoods around it are beautiful and age-old. However, divisions
and inequalities are concealed behind the veneer of Bath stone and rural beauty. This is
why, through our Crisis Programme, we provide relief for those who have reached a point
of financial crisis in their life and need support.

We are continuously working to address the challenges our community faces, forging
connections with like-minded charities and donors for their specific knowledge and
expertise, as well as their ability to help implement our initiatives and programmes to

support positive social change.
I
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Through our charitable delivery, we help under-served younger people, mature adults and
those in crisis. We believe in helping to shape a much kinder and more caring community,
where everybody, irrespective of age or social environment, has the opportunity to thrive and
lead fulfilling lives.

The Good Living Service

Almshouses

Almshouses actively work to create an environment that empowers residents to make their
own choices and live life on their own terms. With the appropriate support provided by St
John’s, our residents can maintain their independence for longer, enhancing their overall
well-being and quality of life. In 2023, 108 residents lived in St John’s almshouses.

St John’s almshouses are more than just a refuge for older people, they are the basis of a
thriving community, that through a variety of means, provide support and friendship. Made
up of people from a range of backgrounds and walks of life, our residents enjoy each other’s
company and culture, whilst maintaining and sharing their own individuality.

The almshouses themselves are a unique tapestry of each resident’s personality. Beautifully
decorated and representative of the experiences and journeys that our residents have
encountered throughout their lives, the apartments play a large part in cementing our
residents place within our community, whilst helping them to feel safe, secure and supported.
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Advice Service

The advice service offered by the Good Living team encompasses a range of support options,
ranging from direct help, to signposting to specialist services. The advice service offers help
with admin tasks such as signing up for, and understanding pension credits and housing
benefits, as well as supporting with health needs and ensuring residents can access the right
support they need.

The service goes further than just our residents and provides the families of people living in our
almshouses support and advice when required. The Good Living team take pride in being
reactive to the needs of the people we work with and offer creative solutions for a wealth of
situations. The Good Living team recognise that sometimes, when older people’s needs change,
their families may not be aware of the best route of support and in response, they ensure that
the best advisory service is available and can offer support and reassurance for those who may
be experiencing difficulties as they or their relatives age.

In 2023, we gave advice and signposting to 293 older adults.

Activities

The activities programme, run by the Good Living Service aims to provide residents from within
our almshouse community, and adults over 55 in the wider BaNES community, a
comprehensive programme of activities designed to enrich wellbeing, build confidence and
encourage connections in daily life. The classes offer activities that engage both the body and
the mind, whilst bringing together older adults from within the community.

The Good Living service ran 71 active learning classes in 2022. These classes were attended by
over 372 older adults from across Bath and North East Somerset, which equated to 7,269
attendances across the year. 49 of our 102 residents attend activities within our programme.

Of the 17 different activities we provide, 14 of these are full. Ballet, Pilates and Stitch continue to
be our most popular, with the Good Living Service providing increased sessions for Pilates and
Ballet.

Use of our Space

Through our provision of space on site, we are currently supporting various charities in Bath
and North East Somerset, offering them use of both The Bubble and Combe Park free of charge.
In 2023, 9 charities used our space, with 372 people attending these sessions throughout the
year.

These 9 charities include: Bath Mind, Bath Welcomes Refugees, Bath Macular Society,
Stillwaters Group , Mencap, Bath Diabetes Group, Alzheimer’s Society, Bath Climate Hub and
Rice Clinic.

e
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Ageing Well Bath & North East Somerset

Towards the end of 2023, St John’s jointly funded the Age
Friendly Bath & North East Somerset programme. This
collaborative programme with Age UK Bath is designed to drive
change in the region to improve the lives of older people. It aims
to establish a World Health Organisation accredited age friendly
community and with this, strengthen compassionate and healthy
communities locally. The programme’s first aim is to gather
intelligence to inform the Health and Wellbeing board and ensure
older people’s needs and views are listened to when decisions
are made.

As well as an Ageing Well Forum and a steering group, the
programme will also collaborate with the existing Ageing Well
Network, facilitated by Bath and North East Somerset’s Third
Sector Group (3SG). The network has so far welcomed 100
participants from 35 organisations supporting older adults.

Partnership Working

Pets As Therapy (PAT): The Good Living team partner with Pets As
Therapy to provide support-animal visits to our residents. The
service supports residents in both their health and wellbeing by
providing access to the companionship of an animal to people
who may be suffering from health issues or experiencing isolation
due to circumstances beyond their control. Currently, PAT
volunteers visit on a weekly basis.

Active Ageing: The team have been working alongside the
University of Bath on a bid for funding for two Active Ageing
projects. If successful, these projects will enable the university to
work with our alms-residents to develop strategies for older
people to live independently for longer.

Connecting Generations: Working with Connecting Generations,
students from the University of Bath offer free technology
support to our alms-residents, who are encouraged to bring their
phones, iPads, laptops and devices for impartial help and advice.
This has been a successful endeavour with residents and
students enjoying the opportunity to socialise with each other.
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Best Start in Life (formerly known as The Foundation Fund)

Academic attainment levels have, historically, been lower among children from under-served
backgrounds for a variety of complex reasons. The gap between the highest and lowest
achieving pupils has been exacerbated over recent years by the pandemic, schools have faced
a challenging task to narrow this disparity back down to pre-COVID levels. The impact of the
cost-of-living crisis on families has further deepened the complexity of this challenge.

Before the pandemic struck, in February 2020, St John’s Foundation launched an ambitious
ten-year strategy and pledge to support under-served children through interventions within
our Foundation Fund. The aim of our fund is to narrow the attainment gap for Key Stage 2
children living in Bath and North East Somerset (BaNES) through a broad range of initiatives.
This crucial work will best support children aged 0 to 12 and level out the opportunities for
them to thrive.

Supporting 0-4 years

Early Nurture Service
The number of children with mental health concerns across Bath and North East Somerset is
increasing year on year.

Our Early Nurture Service is tackling this growing issue by providing support to nurseries and
pre-schools so they can identify and assess children experiencing social, emotional and
mental health (SEMH) issues. Using an accredited SEMH assessment, children are supported
through their early years settings and into primary school.

In 2023, we provided support to 146 children across six early years settings through the
programme. Additionally, the team conducted training sessions for 16 early years
practitioners, empowering them with the skills necessary to effectively support children.

Perinatal and Emotional Wellbeing Partnership

Becoming a new parent can be challenging and overwhelming. St John’s works alongside
local services to care for the mental health of new parents, providing a comprehensive
approach to address the emotional wellbeing of those navigating parenthood.

Working together with local partners, in 2023 St John’s supported 22 new mothers with 90% of
them showing considerable improvement in their mental health.
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Language for Life

Evidence shows the importance of speech and
language development in young children, it is
fundamental to their ability to learn. As they
learn, it is also crucial for children to get help to
develop their communication skills so they are
able to manage their emotions and behaviours.
However, under-served children often arrive at
school with lower speech and language ability
than their peers, leading to an early language

gap.

Language for Life is a speech and language
programme supporting nursery-age children to
improve their communication skills. Every child
is assessed and a personalised plan is
developed for those requiring support.

The hope is that more under-served children
will begin their school life with the level of
speech and language they need for a better
chance of fulfilling a successful school
experience.

At the start of the 2021/2022 academic year, 84
per cent of children assessed at participating
settings were identified as needing extra
support, including the majority of children in
receipt of early years pupil premium (EYPP). By
the end of the 2022/2023 year, this figure
reduced to just 29 per cent.

Throughout 2023, 23 early year settings were
involved in the pilot programme. Given the
success of the programme, Language for Life is
now being extended to an additional 45
settings.
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Supporting 4-12 years

As part of our ten-year strategy, St John’s launched the Primary Empowerment Programme
(PEP). The programme provides additional support with reading, writing, mathematics and
oracy as well as emotional and behavioural support. The programme supports 1,657 children
within seven primary schools in BaNES which, together, teach 40% of the region’s most
under-served children. Close collaboration with the respective head teachers has helped to
shape the programme and direct its focus to where the support would be most beneficial to
each school.

At the end of the 2022/23 school year, the PEP completed its second year and initial data
indicates a clear movement towards more children meeting expected academic levels for
their year group. However, the initiative is not just about hard figures. The wide range of
support offered is making a tangible difference to many pupils’ self-confidence and wellbeing,
as well as positive knock-on effects this has on their teachers, school communities and
parents.

Most powerfully, the anecdotal evidence so far has been overwhelmingly positive. Feedback
from head teachers often focuses on the difficulty of quantifying the impact of the PEP’s
various support streams, as it continues to be so wide-ranging. One head teacher says that
the PEP “has enabled our school to proactively support our children in ways which we would
have only been able to dream about without this funding”, adding: “Children now read more
books than two years ago and in KS2 they read on average for seven minutes longer each day.
They become fluent readers earlier, are proud of their reading and love talking about it. | also
feel that the broad range of consultation and training has helped us to move forward and
recover much quicker following the pandemic.”

Behavioural and emotional support

One key focus has been around behavioural and emotional support. In the wake of multiple
lockdowns, the additional support for emotional and mental health (SEMH) needs,
particularly for children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) has been
overwhelming for many schools, with long waiting lists to receive any specialist support.

As part of the programme, the schools are receiving training, guidance and support from
specialist providers, Brighter Futures. Funded by St John’s, they help to improve learning and
wellbeing outcomes for these children and equip the teachers with the tools they need to
provide ongoing support. This has in many cases changed schools’ approaches and culture in
this area, with positive outcomes such as reduced numbers of suspensions.

The total cost of the Primary Empowerment Programme in 2023 was £734,046.
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Supporting children and families

Safe places

Access to a safe place is a fundamental human right. When we established our Foundation
Fund in 2020, we recognised that one of the issues families might face would be a shortage
of places outside of school hours where they would feel safe and which would contribute
to their general well-being.

Our definition of a ‘Safe Place’ is a place where children and their parents can go to engage
with each other and have access to activities and support. Through accessing a safe place
children and parents have the opportunity to engage with their community and feel a
better sense of connection and belonging. They are often also able to access nutritious
food to support their physical wellbeing.

In 2023, St John’s published a map of all Safe Places across Bath and North East Somerset.
The locations vary from sports clubs to community halls and churches with many
organising activities for children to get involved with. This includes the Glasshouse
Academy which St John’s has funded on a five-year agreement (starting 2020) where
children can go with the aim of raising their aspiration and opportunities. Other activities
on the mapping support older adults and some Safe Places also have kitchens, which
means food can be offered.

Nutritious Food

Every young person has the potential to do well at school. However, a lack of nutritious
food can affect brain development. Many families whose children attend the seven Primary
Empowerment Programme schools struggle financially but are not eligible for free school
meals.

St John’s funds school meals for children who are not entitled to free school meals so they
can have a hot lunch each day. With proven links between nutritious food and academic
achievement this, in turn, benefits children’s brain development and their ability to
concentrate and learn. As well as supporting children’s academic achievements, these
measures impact the wider class and teachers, by reducing disruptive behaviour caused by
hunger. The initiative also provides support to parents who are struggling to feed their
families in these economically challenging times by supporting their financial and mental
wellbeing.

In 2023, St John’s provided 49,242 free school meals for 406 children across six schools.
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Big Education

St John’s partnered with Bath and North East Somerset Council to embark on a joint project
to support schools across the region with the persistent attainment gap. The aim of this
project is to improve educational outcomes for under-served pupils.

Big Education, an organisation with extensive experience in working with education
providers to effect change, was successfully appointed as project lead. The venture will see
Big Education analyse local needs and data for different approaches adopted by schools
across the region. This will help formulate a new strategy to deliver the best outcomes for
under-served pupils across the region.

Ajoint report detailing findings on the disadvantage gap in Bath and North East Somerset
was published in May 2023.

Big Education have subsequently worked with school leaders to research practices under
the areas of parental engagement; behaviour and self-regulation and aspiration. It is hoped
that schools will be able to implement new ways of supporting children in these areas.

The programme will run until the end of the 2024/25 academic year, with findings being
shared with local and national stakeholders.

Crisis Programme

In 2023, St John’s received 490 applications to our Crisis Programme. 332 of these were
approved and a total of £203,000 was awarded. Of these applications, 170 supported single
people, 115 were to support families who had children under the age of 12 years old and the
remaining 47 were for families with children over 12 years old, or couples without
dependents.

The total number of applications remained below the levels seen prior to the pandemic,
largely due to Bath & North-East Somerset Council's Welfare Support Scheme continuing to
have a significantly-increased budget from the Government’s “Household Support Fund” in
response to the cost-of-living crisis. However, the number of applications remained
consistent throughout the year with sustained demand for help and the HSF is expected to
come to an end in October 2024.
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Project funding

Debt continues to be a big problem for under-served households in
BaNES and nationally and St John’s has funded debt advisory
services at Citizen’s Advice Bath & North East Somerset. Since
December 2021, the team have worked with local residents to support
them with clearing debt and obtaining benefits or other funding, to
the value of over £1m.

The funding has been agreed for an additional three years, running
until 2026.

In 2022, funding totalling £30,000 was awarded to Curo’s pilot
furnished tenancy programme - Cosy Start. This programme has
supported 16 households over the two years by providing them with
fully furnished properties.

Rent arrears among these households is currently at 0%, this
contrasts with the average of 18% of new universal credit tenancies
going into rent arrears. The feedback from the Cosy Start beneficiaries
has been extremely positive and plans are in place to expand the
programme in 2024.

Property and investments

When St John’s launched its current strategy in February 2020, a
strategic asset review was undertaken to assess the investment
portfolio allocation. This concluded that the Charity should reduce its
reliance on property investments.

This will enable St John's to re-invest the funds in other classes of
investment assets. It will help achieve a more balanced mix of
investments and therefore generate the income St John's requires to
continue implementing its ambitious programme of charitable
activities, as well as maintaining the financial health of the Charity for
future generations.

In 2023, the Charity sold ten properties worth £11.503m at a profit of
£1.191m and continued its programme of marketing selected
properties for sale - this process will continue over the next few years.
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Over the six years remaining of its current ten-year strategy, St John’s will manage its
investments to meet the aims of:

« Establishing, in collaboration with others, an age-friendly community across Bath and
North East Somerset. This includes maintaining and growing our almshouse
accommodation.

+ Building communities where every child under 12 is supported to grow into a healthy,
happy, and educated member of the community, courtesy of the Best Start in Life.

« Providing funding for individuals in crisis, courtesy of the Crisis Programme.

The length of St John's tenure is testament to the Charity's ability to move with the times
and continue to deliver a wide range of services that address the changing needs of our
community. St John’s will continue to review the impact of our charitable arms and will
continue to work with its partners to deliver our aims and shape future work.
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The Trading Company is owned by the Charity. Revenue is generated by the Trading
Company through the letting of serviced apartments at St Catherine’s Hospital and the
provision of serviced offices and event space at the House of St John’s. The Trading Company
aims to gift as much of its taxable profits to the Charity as possible. Ultimately, it aims to gift
100% of profits to the Charity although due to the need to repay set up costs and the time
required to grow the business to its full potential, such gift aiding of profits is not expected in
the next few years.

St Catherine’s Hospital

Comprising 10 one-bedroom apartments, St Catherine’s offers a truly tranquil sanctuary in

the heart of Bath. Run by our dedicated commercial trading subsidiary, the holiday lets will
generate funds that support our wide range of charitable work across Bath and North East

Somerset.

People staying at St Catherine’s are not only enjoying a lovely stay in Bath, they are also
helping to fund positive change within the local community. It’s a place to stay with a social
purpose.
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House of St John's

In 2019, the charity began an extensive
renovation project of their Grade 1 listed
property, 1 Queen Square. In February 2022,
the Trading Company launched the House of
St John’s, offering a range of private offices,
co-working lounges, dedicated desks,
meeting rooms, and an event space.

After nearly two years of operation, in 2023,
the team assessed the space to optimise
layout and usage. With a significant portion
of offices already sold, the focus shifted to
meeting rooms as a key revenue driver,
resulting in the repurposing of the first floor
to just meeting rooms and events.

Due to high demand, the co-working offering
was capped at 40 memberships to ensure
optimal utilisation of space. Additionally, a
more flexible membership model was
introduced to accommodate member needs.

In September of that year, the dedicated desk
capacity was expanded from 4 to 6, all of
which have been sold. In 2023, the House
also introduced a new product, a registered
business address. This service provides
clients with the use of its prestigious Bath
address. This additional offering serves as a
passive income generator for the House.

As the House of St John’s charity partner,
profits will be gifted to St John’s and the
focus is on developing a sustainable business
which will lead to a long-term profit stream.
This will take time as set up costs were high
and the business has had to adapt to
changing markets. However, business plans
are in place to deliver the repayment of debts
and provide future profits.

.
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STRUCTURE,
GOVERNANCE
AND
MANAGEMENT

Legal structure

St John’s Foundation Est. 1174 (the Charity) is controlled by a
trustee company, St John’s Hospital Trustee Limited
(registration 08188066). The trustee company has a board of
unpaid directors, who are effectively the trustees of the
Charity.

The Charity is an unincorporated Charity registered in
England and Wales (reference 201476). It is governed by a
Charity Commission Scheme dated 25 September 2012 as
amended on 8 February 2017 and by resolution dated 28
September 2017.

St John’s Hospital Trading Company Ltd (registration
08632453) is the trading arm of the Charity and is a wholly
owned subsidiary.

There is a second subsidiary company, wholly owned by
the Charity - St John’s Hospital Design and Build Ltd
(registration 1523021). This is currently a dormant
company.
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GOVERNANCE

The Charity Governance Code

The Code (published in 2017 and reviewed in 2020) sets out seven principles of good
governance, including:

S Decision making,
Organisational : :
Leadership risk
Purpose
and control

Equality, Openness
diversity
and inclusion

Board
effectiveness

and
accountability

The Trustees recognise that effective governance is essential in enabling the Charity to
meet its aims and have reviewed the Charity’s governance against the Code. The findings
of this review were that St John’s has an effective, well-governed board and that the new
strategy underpins many elements that are fundamental to the spirit of the Code including
transparency, collaboration and strategic drive. There were no significant concerns or
risks identified as part of the review but in line with continuous improvement a list of
recommendations has been adopted for implementation. All Trustees have signed a Code
of Conduct based upon the Charity Governance Code. Our current governance
arrangements are set out in the report.
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HOW OUR
VALUES
SUPPORT
EFFECTIVE
GOVERNANCE

We embrace our organisational values of
Courage, Kindness and Trust and apply these
values to everything we do and in how we treat
one another.

The breadth of St John’s work necessitates a
diverse workforce and each one of the Trustees
and the employees help to make our
organisation an uplifting and cohesive place to
work.

We actively encourage the sharing of ideas and
promote continuing personal development.
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In line with the Articles of Association of St John’s Hospital Trustee Limited (‘the Articles’),
the Board of Trustees must compromise between 10 and 14 members. Trustees are each
appointed for a term of three years and may be re-appointed to serve for up to nine years.

Decision-making

The Board held four formal meetings and two development days during 2023 to
determine strategy, approve financial plans and consider key policies. The Board has
delegated authority for certain decisions to committees, which are made up of Trustees
with relevant experience and/or qualifications. Professional advisors attend these
committees when necessary to add their insight.

The Board and the Committees review their performance annually. This is carried out
through discussion and has been supported using surveys to gain insight into trustee
opinions on effectiveness. An appraisal of the Chair is conducted regularly by the Senior
Independent trustee and one was undertaken in 2023. As one of the recommendations
arising from the Corporate Governance Code review, the trustees are considering whether
to undertake external evaluations of performance and how individual trustee
performance will be reviewed in the future.
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Committee

Charitable Delivery
and Impact (CDIC)

Audit and Risk
Committee (ARC)

Investment Committee
(INV)

Remuneration & Nominations
Committee
(REM)
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Purpose

To assure the Board that there is an adequate system in
place to measure strategic charitable delivery and
impact of the organisation. While CDIC’s primary
function is assurance, its purpose also includes
supporting continuous improvement in the way impact
is measured and demonstrated.

To assure the Board that there is an adequate
system of risk management in place for the activities
of the Charity and which ensures effective delivery of
all its services, including compliance with all
relevant regulations that relate to the Charity’s
activities. This includes overseeing the accounts and
audit process.

To recommend the investment strategy for the
Charity and to assure the Board that there is an
adequate system of processes and controls in place to
ensure all the Charity’s investment portfolios,
including the property portfolio are appropriately
managed to deliver the agreed investment objectives.

To oversee the trustee appointment process and to
ensure that St John’s has effective remuneration,
nomination and Board recruitment policies and
procedures in place, which are fair and transparent,
adhere to all relevant legislation and support the
strategy, objectives and values of the Charity.
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Committee membership, along with a list of
professional advisors, is available in the ‘Legal and
administrative information’ and ‘Advisers section
below.

The Trustees have delegated day-to-day
management of the Charity to the Executive team
and the employees of St John’s.

Remuneration of the Executive Team

The Remuneration and Nominations committee is
responsible for setting remuneration policies for the
Executive team, based on individual contributions
and the prevailing market. This includes the annual
salary, contractual terms of employment and any
severance arrangements.

For the Charity to meet its strategic goals, it must
recruit and retain highly skilled employees. The
salaries offered to the Executive team are
competitive both locally and within the charitable
sector. The Remuneration and Nominations
committee, taking advice from the Chief Executive,
determines the salaries of the rest of the Executive
team. An over-riding factor in salary setting is always
affordability in the context of the whole
organisation’s budget.

St John's Foundation Est. 1174
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The Remuneration and Nominations Committee determines the appointment procedures
for new trustees including how the vacancies will be advertised. This is through social
media and an external recruitment agency, this ensures the Charity can recruit trustees
from diverse professional backgrounds. The Remuneration and Nominations Committee
agree the terms and conditions of appointment and any interview process, which will
involve a minimum of 2 existing trustees. It then nominates candidates for approval by the
Board.

Once appointed new trustees are provided with training through an induction pack. This
includes a trustee handbook which is reviewed and updated regularly and shared with all
trustees. Further training may be offered where needs are identified. Throughout the year
the Charity updates trustees using seminars and briefings. A formal training schedule was
adopted 2022 and opportunities for continued professional development offered on a
voluntary basis to the Board. In 2023, this continued with trustees feeding back on the skills
they wish to focus on developing in future year. A budget exists to pay for trustees to attend
individual, and skill based CPD events.
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Whilst over recent years, the Charity did not actively fund raise it did sometimes generate
funds from the public through events. The primary purpose of these has not been fund-
raising but awareness raising. In recognising the significant milestone of the Charity’s
850th birthday in 2024, it was considered that there may be a wider number of people
engaging with St John’s who may wish to donate or raise funds for the Charity. Therefore,
a fundraising page was set up on the Charity’s website and the Charity registered with the
Fundraising Regulator, committing to the Code of Fundraising Practice and the
Fundraising Promise. QR codes and links to the fundraising page have been added to
publications by the Charity and anyone approaching the charity wishing to donate or
fundraise have been directed to the donate page. The donations are managed through
Just Giving and allows relevant taxpayers to giftaid their donations. The page includes
frequently asked questions which includes details on what to expect in relation to
fundraising by St John’s, the Code under which the Charity operates and the complaints
process. During 2023, the Charity received zero complaints with regards to fundraising
practices (2022 zero).

In 2023, some employees and members of the public sought sponsorship for events to
raise funds for St John’s Foundation. This is via donation pages, such as Just Giving. Due to
the nature of these events no pressure is put on individuals to donate. There is very little
perceived risk to vulnerable people or other members of the publicin relation to
fundraising. We never use an external partner to raise funds. The Trading Company is
operated as a social enterprise to raise funds for the Charity.

Communications and actions taken in relation to using the Charity to promote for
commercial advantage is compliant with the Charities (Protection and Social Investment)
Act 2016, an Act with which the Charity is also compliant.
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Registered office:
Telephone:
Email:

Website:

Charity reference:

Trustee:
Patron:

22

4/5 Chapel Court, Bath, BA1 1SQ
01225 486400
info@stjohnsbath.org.uk
www.stjohnsbath.org.uk

201476
St John's Hospital Trustee Limited (08188066)

Her Majesty The Queen
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Directors of St John's Hospital Trustee Limited ('The
Trustees') & Committee Membership

CDIC| ARC INV |REM
Ben Fletcher (Chair) ® | Resigned: 23 Jul 2024
Ashley Ayre o Resigned: 6 Jun 2024
Jamal Benmiloud Resigned: 30 Mar 2023
Catharine Brown Appointed: 14 Dec 23, Resigned: 26 Jun 24
Moira Brennan ° ® | Retired: 28 Sept 2023
Richard Brown ®
Rev Roger Driver °®
Jettrey Hayes ° °
Nicholas Hunt ® Resigned: 30 Mar 2023
John Lakin (Vice Chair) | e Y
Karen MacGregor ® °
Ken Scott ® °
Carole Stott ° ®
Madeleine Musselwhite ° Appointed: 28 Sept 2023
Lorraine Coward ° Appointed: 14 Dec 2023
Eric Zwickel ° Appointed: 14 Dec 2023
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Directors of St John's Hospital Trading Company Ltd.

Ashley Ayre A Trustee of the Charity Resigned 6 Jun 2024
Caroline Bee Finance Director of the Charity

Jamal Benmiloud A Trustee of the Charity Resigned 24 Mar 2023
Moira Brennan A Trustee of the Charity (Chair) Retired 28 Sept 2023
Louise Harvey Executive Director of the Charity ~ Stood down 14 Dec 2023
David Hobdey Chief Executive of the Charity Stood down 14 Dec 2023
Karen MacGregor A Trustee of the Charity

Ken Scott A Trustee of the Charity

Catharine Brown A Trustee of the Charity (Chair) Appointed 14 Dec 2023, Resigned 15 Jul 2024
Laura Alexander Commercial Director of the Charity Appointed 14 Dec 2023

Executive Team

Catharine Brown Interim Chief Executive (from 15 Jul 2024)

David Hobdey Chief Executive (until 18 Jul 2024)

Louise Harvey Executive Director of the Foundation Fund (until 28 Jun 2024)
Caroline Bee Director of Finance

Laura Alexander Commercial Director and Managing Director of St John’s Hospital

Trading Company (from 1 Jun 2023)
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Evelyn Partners Investment Management LLP Portwall Place, Portwall Lane, Bristol, BS1 6NA
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The consolidated income for 2023 was £5.7m. This is the higher than the £5.3m in the
previous year. Investment income remained broadly at the same level (c£3.9m). However,
income from both trading and charitable activities grew.

Other Tradingincome
1% 11%

Almshouse & older people income

Financial investments (dividends) 14%

37%

Property investments (rent)
37%
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Income from charitable activities, which includes income from almshouses and residential
care, increased by £196,000 (24%) in 2023 from 2022.

The monthly maintenance charge paid by residents within the almshouses was reviewed in
year and increased in alignment with the Local Housing Allowance. This was the main driver of
the 24% increase in income from charitable activities.

Donations and legacies

Donation income fell from £73,000 in 2022 to £3,000 in 2023. This is because at the end of 2022
a grant of £70,000 was received towards the end of the year from the Julia and Hans Rausing
Trust, to mark the accession of Her Majesty the Queen. The funds were provided for core costs
of the organisation and have been treated as unrestricted income.

Investment income

Investment income in 2023 was £3.9m, the same as in 2022. Within this, property income
continued to fall as properties were sold and/or held vacant for disposal. Residential income
fell by £23,000 (2.9%) and commercial income by £87,000 (4.7%). This was offset by higher
dividend income with financial investment income increasing by 12.8% in year from £1.2m to
£1.4m. With property disposals planned into 2024 and the reinvestment of proceeds into the
financial investments, the trend seen in 2023 from property income to dividends, is expected
to continue into 2024.

St John's Foundation Est. 1174
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Trading activities

As discussed above, the Trading Company saw an increase in overall income of £207,000
(34.6%). This was due to the growth in the House of St John’s which saw turnover increase by
150% to £455,000 as the business entered it’s second year of trading. The income from House
of St John’s was however, offset by a decrease in income from St Catherine’s which fell by
£66,000 (15.9%). During 2023, the holiday apartment operator running St Catherine’s on the
trading company’s behalf went into voluntary liquidation. The running of the business was
transferred to a company connected to the directors of the liquidated business for a few
months whilst St John’s sought a new managing agent. The new managing agents were
appointed in January 2024 and started trading with St Catherine’s in February 2024. These
changes led to reduced income and higher costs during the transition.

The House of St John’s generated income from office rental, event space hire and co-working
memberships. The business operated at a loss which was anticipated as it was only the
second year of trading.

Expenditure
Total expenditure in 2023 was £6.8m (2022: £6.5m).

After consolidation adjustments, costs for the Trading Company were £693,000 in 2023 (2022:
£674,000).

Charitable Delivery

Expenditure on charitable delivery was £1.2m higherin 2023 than in 2022 but only £42,000
higher than budgeted. The year on year increase was largely driven by an exercise in 2023 to
review cost allocations. The basis of overhead allocation had not been reviewed since the
introduction of the new strategy in 2020 and it was felt that the historical method of
allocating costs no longer reflected the true underlying nature of the costs and use of
overheads on different activities. There were also some costs which could be directly
attributed to the almhouses or investment properties with some improved cost coding. The
allocation of central overheads to charitable activities increased from £660,000 in 2022 to
£1.5min 2023.

Spend on the almshouses was £240,000 (29%) higher in 2023 than 2022 but £60,000 lower
than budget. These extra costs reflect ongoing maintenance costs and increasing costs of
utilities, as well as an inflationary increase in wages during the year. Significant repairs and
capital costs on the almshouses are planned for 2024 as part of the cyclical maintenance of
the buildings.
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Spend on Funding and Impact in 2023 was also slightly higher at £1.8m before overheads
compared to £1.7m in 2022 but below budget by £365,000.

The decrease expected from the final tranche of multi-year funding awards to which the
Charity had committed prior to the implementation of the new strategy in 2022 was offset by
the introduction of a free school meals programme. Under this programme, the Charity
agreed to fund school meals across seven local primary schools for those not entitled to free
school meals under the government scheme. However, spend on this was £250,000 lower
than budgeted due to over estimating the take up of meals and speed at which the
programme would be rolled out. The crisis fund saw fewer applicants and spend in 2023 was
£80,000 below budget. Further information on charitable activities is provided above and in
Note 7 below.

Costs of Raising Funds

There was a significant decrease in the cost of raising funds in 2023 compared to 2022 . This
relates to the cost of operating the investment property portfolio and most of the decrease is
due to the cost allocation exercise discussed above.

Before allocation of central overheads, spending on property management costs fell by
£404,000 to £749,000 (2021: £1.15m). 2022 included one-off costs associated with the new
investment strategy, including professional advice on disposal strategies and a significant
increase in planned maintenance costs on the residential estate compared to 2021. Such
repair costs fluctuate year on year and are programmed over a 30-year property plan. Higher
costs had been budgeted for in 2023 but repairs which were not deemed essential or likely to
generate a return on sale were not undertaken on properties due for disposal. Property costs
were 16% below budget as a result. The disposal strategy should lead to repair costs reducing
each year as the number of buildings in the portfolio reduces.

Inflationary increases in the year meant the cost of building repairs, insurance, computer
software, licensing and general consumables became more expensive. Electricity costs
increased due to the long-term price contract ending in July 2023, and whilst significant
increases were seen these remained below the budgeted position, which had been over
prudent. The gas contractis due for renewal in 2024. It is anticipated that this will lead to
significant unit cost increases which is being built into financial plans. There were also
increased costs within the finance team as three of the four team members went on
maternity leave in 2024, leading to increased costs of providing cover and recruitment.

St John's Foundation Est. 1174
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Volunteers

The Charity supports many people in Bath and North East Somerset with the valued help
of volunteers who work with the Good Living Service. We are incredibly grateful for the
time and effort of the volunteers who support the activities of the Charity.

Annual Deficit
Overall, the operating deficit for 2023 was £1.083m (2022: £1.145m) before gains and
losses on investments.

Valuation gains on both listed investments and the property portfolio have created a
positive net movement in funds of £3.4m compared to a negative net return of £13.0m in
2022. 2022 reflected a decrease in the financial markets affecting both equities and
property prices as at 31 December 2022.

In 2022 property valuations were affected by a decision to amend the valuation
assumptions on the majority of the residential property portfolio. The trustees had
agreed that it was in the Charity’s best interest to sell a significant proportion of the
residential estate on a portfolio basis with tenants in situ. This approach would lead to a
lower market value being achieved on sale than if the properties were sold on an
individual basis with vacant possession (the basis usually used in the financial
statements to determine fair value). The trustees were therefore of the view that the fair
value of these properties should reflect the decisions made at year end and agreed to
reduce the fair value to a portfolio basis with tenants in situ for those properties being
marketed as such at the year end. During 2023, it became clear that the discountin
selling the properties with tenants in situ would be too large to justify a sale and the
decision was made to sell the properties on a piecemeal basis when vacant. The
properties are therefore valued on a vacant possession basis as at 31 December 2023.

The Charity adopted a total return method of accounting from the 1st of January 2013.
On this date the initial value of the unapplied total return was £45.5m and the core
capital endowment was valued at £35.0m. In arriving at these values, the trustees used
the indexed values of the permanent endowment at 1 January 1995 to represent the
preserved value of the original gift.
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Calculating our inflation +4% target:

The Board recognises that market volatility could
cause the value of its investments to fluctuate
each year. However, given the Charity’s overall
financial strength, the longer-term view is more
important. The target is therefore measured as an
average over a rolling five-year period.

Investment management costs, like fees charged
by investment managers, are deducted within the
calculation. This means that the whole CPI+4%
return is available to support charitable activities.

From this date the Charity has set a target to
achieve a ‘total return’ from its investments of
inflation +4% on average each year. ‘Total return’
is the sum of valuation gains and income (e.g.,
dividends or rent).

Why CPI +4%?

CPI (the Consumer Prices Index) is a measure of
inflation. The use of an appropriate measure of
inflation is important. The Retail Prices Index (RPI)
has historically been used by the Charity but
following careful consideration, the trustees
agreed to move to CPl from 1 January 2021. By
ensuring the investments grow in line with
inflation, the value of investments is protected to
support the needs of future generations. In 2021
the permanent endowment was increase by
£2.0m for CPI(2022: £4.765m CPI).

The Charity also relies on income from its
investments to fund its charitable activities today.
The 4% return more than inflation is used to
support our existing beneficiaries. In 2023 £4.5m
of unapplied total return was allocated to income
(2022: £3.5m).
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At the year end, the Charity held £105.1m of investments (2022: £106.4m). Of this, £51.7m
(49%) was property in Bath (2022: £62.8m / 59%). The Investment Committee has agreed
a target strategic allocation of assets (i.e., mix of different types of investments), designed
to create the highest return at an acceptable level of risk. A review of the property
portfolio was commissioned in year and reports previously commissioned from two
independent investment managers to establish an appropriate target. This led to a
change in the Investment Policy and a new strategic asset allocation. The need to
rebalance the investment portfolio (by buying and selling assets) is assessed at least
annually with a detailed plan in place to achieve any identified need to rebalance the
portfolio. Other investments (including a social loan, and cash balances) have not been
included, as these make up less than 0.5% of the total value.
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A few notes on our Investment Policy:

» Thereis no limit on investment in individual assets, but the Investment Committee
actively monitors any asset which makes up more than 5% of the value of the portfolio.
« The Investment Policy allows for investment in any type of asset, with the exception of
derivatives (unless for the purpose of hedging) and individual investments may be
excluded where there is conflict with the Charity’s objectives.

« The Charity can invest in mixed motive and social investments where they align with
the Charity’s objects. It currently holds a small social investment representing two
concessionary loans to a carer’s centre, the purpose of which aligned to the Charity’s
object of assisting those in need. These do not form a material part of the Charity’s
charitable or investment activities.
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The trustees recognise the importance of responsible investment (RI) and during 2021 the
Investment Policy was amended to better reflect the values of the Charity. The UN
Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDGs) were recognised as a good indicator of this for
investments and the following goals have been adopted as the Charity’s investment values:

UNSD Goal 1 - No poverty

UNSD Goal 2 - Zero hunger

UNSD Goal 3- Good health and well-being

UNSD Goal 4 - Quality education

UNSD Goal 10 - Reduced inequalities

UNSD Goal 11 - Sustainable cities and communities

The trustees do not impose any strict exclusion criteria in relation to the investment values
(though appointee investment managers may themselves have their own baseline

exclusions). The investment values should provide a guiding context for investment decision
making as they are important to the Charity.
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The trustees also seek continuous improvement in how the
Charity’s investments can be better aligned to its
investment values whilst still providing the best financial
return within an acceptable level of risk. In the first
instance the trustees expect the following in relation to RI
considerations:

e |nvestment managers must be signatories of the UN
Principles of Responsible Investment (PRI) and report
annually to the trustees on their performance against
the UN PRI.

e |nvestment managers are required to report to the
trustees on any baseline level of investment exclusions
applied by them to the Charity’s portfolios and the
trustees are to be kept appraised of any developments
in exclusion policy by the investment managers.

e Where investment managers place the Charity’s funds
with 3rd party managers, the investment managers
must ensure that the third-party managers are also
signatories of the UN PRI, and they must evaluate their
performance in relation to this.

e Annual reports are to be provided to the trustees
showing how the Charity’s managed portfolios are
performing in relation to Rl considerations and where
possible, this should be reported in relation to the
Charity’s investment values. The trustees acknowledge
that this reporting will be emergent but expects it to
become more mature over time to enable the trustees
to track how well the Charity’s investments are aligned
to the Charity’s values.

e [tisexpected thatinvestment managers will report to
the trustees on a quarterly basis on any conduct
breach of the UN Global Compact by companies within
our investment portfolio.

e |ndividual investments may be excluded if seen to
conflict with the investment values.
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Most of the Charity’s reserves are held as
investments. The income from these

Charity only £'m
investments is needed to support
today’s beneficiaries, as well as future
generations. The trustees therefore
. g . Invested endowment 100.5
protect a significant proportion of
reserves for future use. At the end of
2023, total charity reserves were £115.3m
(2022: £112.9m). Functional
12.2
endowment

The Charity adopts a zero “free” reserves
policy. However, not all the unrestricted
fund is relevant in calculating free reserves
and a zero ‘free’ reserves policy does not Operational assets 17
mean that the unrestricted fund is zero. The (excluding endowed)
following are still held in the unrestricted
fund and excluded in calculating the ‘free’

reserves as they are not readily available for | Commitments 1.3
spending:
Any operational fixed assets not already Restricted funds 01

excluded from unrestricted funds through
the functional endowment (e.g., head office)
of £1.7m (2022: £1.5m).

“Free” reserves (0.5)

Committed awards or building contracts,
notincluded as a liability in the accounts of
£1.3m (except those already excluded from Total reserves 115.3
unrestricted funds through the functional
endowment) (2022: £1.2m).

St John's Foundation Est. 1174
36 J



At the year-end there were negative ‘free’ reserves held - in other words there was a
deficit of £0.5m such that the accounts show that there are insufficient unrestricted
reserves held to meet commitments as at 31 December 2023. This is against the
reserves policy set in 2021 when the trustees reviewed and revised the Reserves Policy
for the Charity to adopt a zero free Reserve Policy. This policy aims to draw down funds
from the unapplied total returns into unrestricted reserves only as required to meet
operational expenditure in any given year, including enough to cover commitments at
year end.

The trustees consider a zero “free” reserves policy to be a reasonable approach as the
Charity adopts a total return approach and holds significant unapplied total returns
which can be expended as required. The level of reserves required for transfer must be
set prior to the year end and is usually set at a high-level estimate of what is required.
Unfortunately, the resolution passed by the Board of Trustees in December 2023
capped the increase at £4.5m which was less than the amount required once the year
end adjustments had been made. As a result there is a deficit on free reserves at year
end. This is not a cause for concern however, as the charity can make transfers in year
as required from unapplied total returns and the levels of these are significant, being
£47.7m at year-end. Therefore, whilst showing a deficit on unrestricted ‘free’ reserves,
there was more than sufficient funds available in other reserves to meet commitments
and a transfer was made in March 2024 from unapplied total returns to unrestricted
reserves to cover the year end deficit.

The level of unapplied total returns is managed carefully to ensure that the Charity has
financial resilience but also maximises the charitable impact by not holding surplus
funds. This is achieved through long term financial planning to ensure that investments
are maintained at a level which will produce sufficient returns to fund the almshouses,
the Good Living Service and funding awards for future generations and protects the
spending power of this by inflation. Unapplied total returns in excess of this are
expendable on the Foundation Fund and other subsequent strategies and can be
released for expenditure by resolution of the Board.

As a long-term approach is taken, the level of unapplied total returns in any one year is

expected to fluctuate but the average position is considered and taken into financial
planning to determine spending plans and budgets.
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Within the Charity, each team actively manages its own risk register to ensure mitigating
actions are carried out and scoring is up to date. High-scoring risks (i.e., those with
significant likelihood and impact) are included on the Corporate Risk Register. The Audit and
Risk Committee reviews the Corporate Risk Register four times a year and may suggest
further actions to reduce the likelihood or impact of a risk.

The key risks St John’s manages can be summarised into charitable impact, economic and
people related risks as follows:

Charitable impact risk: failure to achieve and/or demonstrate charitable impact to the extent
intended.

Mitigating actions: Robust due diligence processes are in place for established charitable
work throughout the crisis programme and alms-houses. The 2020 - 2030 strategy, covering
all aspects of charitable delivery including its ambitious goal to reduce the attainment gap in
Bath and North East Somerset, is supported by evaluation and delivery partners, and a
system of capabilities to drive continuous improvement.

Economic Risk: Failure to achieve the targeted total return which impacts the income/
capital required to pursue strategic aims.
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Mitigating actions: St John’s takes a long-term view
on its investments, and it uses professional
investment managers for the financial portfolio to
enable recovery and future growth, and to mitigate
short-term impacts. The direct property portfolio is
proactively managed with agents’ advice. The long-
term financial plan is regularly refreshed and guides
discussion, planning and decision making at
Investment Committee and Board. The new
investment strategy and divestment of properties is
a mitigating action to this risk by better diversifying
the portfolio. On an operational level, employees
are supported to regularly engage with budget/
forecasting exercises, actively manage contracts,
and consider costs throughout projects to ensure
financial efficiency in delivering strategic aims.

People related risk: A poor organisational culture
results in ineffective operational delivery, there is a
high staff turnover and/or there is a failure to build
the capabilities that will enable St John’s to deliver
its strategy.

Mitigating actions: Quarterly pulse surveys are
circulated to all employees to receive feedback with
additional ad hoc staff events. Regular internal
communications ensure employees feel informed
and understand how their role contributes to the
wider strategy. Senior managers are asked to report
against the capability system and are invited to
explore concerns through coaching and 1:1s, with
support given for training as needed.
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Going Concern

The Charity considers that it has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and has adopted the
going concern assumption in preparing these
financial statements.

The trustees actively plan for the Charity to
exist for many years, and this is reflected in the
approaches taken to both long-term planning
of investments and reserves, detailed above.
These approaches (including the planned level
of unapplied total returns held by the Charity
and the discretion that it has over its
expenditure) mean that whilst heavily reliant
on investment returns, the trustees consider
the Charity to be resilient to shorter-term
volatility in its investments and plans are in
place to remain adequately resourced to meet
the need of both present and future
beneficiaries. To provide ample headroom,
overdraft facilities are in place which cover a
reasonable worst-case scenario for cash flow
and if required, the financial investments could
be liquidated.
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The Trustee is responsible for preparing the Trustee’s Annual Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom).

The law applicable to charities in England and Wales requires the Trustee to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Charity and the group and of the incoming resources and application of resources of the
Charity and the group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Trustee is required to:

e Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP;

e Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

* Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Charity will continue in business.
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The Trustee is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain the Charity's transactions, that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Charity and enables it to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Charity (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the trust deed.

It is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Charity and the group and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustee is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the financial information
included on the Charity’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

Crowe U.K. LLP have been appointed as auditors in the period. A resolution for the
reappointment of Crowe U.K. LLP as auditors for the Charity will be proposed at the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Trustee on (date) and signed on its behalf by:

Name: Signature:

St John’s Foundation Est. 1174
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of St. John’s Foundation Est. 1174 (‘the charity’) and its subsidiary
(‘the group’) for the year ended 31 December 2022 which comprise Consolidated statement of financial
activities, Consolidated Balance sheet, Charity Balance sheet, Consolidated statement of cash flows and notes
to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give atrue and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charity’s affairs as at 31 December 2022
and of the group’s incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure,
for the year then ended;

» have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustee's use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the charity's or the group’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.
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Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The trustees are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Charities (Accounts and
Reports) Regulations 2008 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

e the information given in the financial statements is inconsistent in any material respect with the trustees’
report; or

o sufficient and proper accounting records have not been kept by the parent charity; or

e thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement set out on page 39 the trustees are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent
charity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charity or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

We have been appointed as auditor under section 151 of the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with
the Acts and relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. Details of the extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations are set out below.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We identified and
assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements from irregularities, whether due to
fraud or error, and discussed these between our audit team members. We then designed and performed audit
procedures responsive to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks within which the charity and group
operates, focusing on those laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination of material
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The laws and regulations we considered in this context
were the Charities Act 2011 together with the Charities SORP (FRS 102). We assessed the required compliance
with these laws and regulations as part of our audit procedures on the related financial statement items.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which might be fundamental to the charity’s and the group’s ability
to operate or to avoid a material penalty. We also considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist
within the charity and the group for fraud.

Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and

regulations to enquiry of the Trustees and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal
correspondence, if any.
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We identified the greatest risk of material impact on the financial statements from irregularities, including
fraud, to be the override of controls by management and investment properties. Our audit procedures to
respond to these risks included enquiries of management about their own identification and assessment
of the risks of irregularities, sample testing on the posting of journals, reviewing accounting estimates for
biases, reviewing regulatory correspondence with the Charity Commission, and reading minutes of
meetings of those charged with governance and designing audit procedures over investment properties.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected
some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and
performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations (irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards
would identify it.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the charity’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with Part 4 of the Charities
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the charity’s trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the charity and the charity’s trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Crowe U.K. LLP
Statutory Auditor
Fourth Floor

St James House
St James Square
Cheltenham
GL50 3PR

Crowe U.K. LLP is eligible for appointment as auditor of the charity by virtue of its eligibility for
appointment as auditor of a company under section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Total Tatal
Unrestricted Restricted Endowment
MHote fund funds fumd o e
E£'000 E"0D0 E'DDD E'DO0 £'000
Income and endowments fram:
Charitable activities 935 5 - 1,000 14
investment income da 1 B 38592 3,301 3,858
Other trading activithes a7 - - a7 GO0
Donations and legacies b 1 2 - 3 T3
Transfer to income 1Talil 4 500 - (4.500) - -
Total income 6,284 35 (s8] 5,711 5,345
Expanditure:
Expenditure an charitable actnaties:
Older adults services 2262 15 114 2381 1LAaay
Funding and impact T 2546 e - P 1966
Tatal expenditure on charitable activities 3 4,508 44 114 4966 3,775
Cost of rasing hunds 4 948 = 187 1,135 2,041
Other expenditure 5 693 . . 693 674
Tnillﬂpll'ld!'h.lll [T L 44 304 &, T4 6,490
Het (expenditu befare investment (losses
i losw | (165) (9) (s09) (L083)  (1145)
gains
Met gains / (losses) on investments 13 . - 3427 34T 112 961)
Met (expenditure) [ income [165) ) 1518 1.344 14,1005
Transfers batween funds 21 . . . . .
Het (expanditure]/ income & net movement in (165) - 2518 2344 (14,206)
funds
Reconciliation af funds:
Total funds brought fansard n 2571 k7 109,796 112 405 126,511
Total funds carried forward Fir 2,406 29 112,314 114,745 112405

The notes on pages 52 to B form part of these finan cal statements,
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
As at 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED BALAMCE SHEET

Hote 2023 2022
£hoon L'o00
Fixed Assets
Intangille assets 10 L 38
Tangible assets - freehold property 11 11,630 1LT08
Dther tangible fooed assets 12 539 313
Investments:
Financial and property investments 13 105, Oy 106,439
Social investments 14 &8 67
117,357 118,566
Current Assets
Social investments 14 - 32
Debiors 15 1,134 1,180
Cash at bank and in hand 1,102 102
1,235 1,314
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year Tia {3,284) {5,656}
Met current [liablities) (1,048} (4,243)
Total assets less current liabilities 116,309 114,224
Creditars: amounts falling due after mere than one year 16b {1560} {1,819
Total net assets 114,748 112 405
Group reserves
Invested endowment fund 17Ta 99,993 97,358
Functional endowment fund 1Th 12,192 12 306
Roxburgh endowment fund 18 129 132
Unrestricted general fund 149 2406 1571
Restricted funds 20 29 34
114,748 112,405

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form part of these finandial statements. These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Trustee at the meeting held on 20 June 2024 and were signed on its behalf by

ki John Lakin

i i Madeline Musselwhibe
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
As at 31 December 2023

CHARITY BALANCE SHEET

Hote 2023 2023
£"000 £'000
Fixed Assets
Intangible assets I 13 25
Tangible assets - frechold property 11 11,642 n1z1
Other tangible assets 12 ar3 nz
Investments:
Financial and property investments 13 105,140 106,439
Social investments 14 68 67
117,246 118,414
Current Assets
Social imestrments 14 : EF)
Debtors 15 2,059 1,795
Cash at bank and in hand 19l 2
2,850 1,829
Creditors: amounts falling due within ane year 16a [3,.249) {5,534)
Met current [liabilities) [(394] {3,705}
Total assets less current Habilities 116,847 114,709
Creditors: amounts falling dee after more than one year 16b {1,564 {1.820)
Total net assets 115,287 112,889
Charity reserves
Invested endowment fund 17a 100,535 97,795
Functional endowment fund 17h 12,192 12 306
Roxburgh endowment fund 18 129 132
Unrestricted general fund 19 2402 2,518
Restricted funds 20 29 31

115287 112 BES

The notes on pages 52 to 81 form part of these finandial statements. These financal statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Trustee at the meeting held on 20 June 2024 and were signed on its behalf by

e s bttt bens John Lakin

58 5558 4S5 S50 Madeline Musselwhite
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2023 202%

000 £'000
Cash flows used by operating activities [note A) [2.431] [5.106]
Cash flows fram financing setivity
Repayments of borrowsngs [285] (22}
Het cash used in financing activity [285] (22}
Cash flows from investing activities:
Dividends, interest and rents from investments 1801 3858
Costs of generating funds paid by endowment capital (187} [282)
im provements to investment properties (94} (3]
Movement of cash held by Brokers (o invistmaents (15) (S0
Purchase of investments [14,733) [5,655)
Proceeds from the sale of investments 159618 5815
Social investments repaid 3l k¥
Purchase of property, plant and equipment [36T) [112)
Adjustment to cost of intangble additions due 1o VAT recovery . .
Purchase of intangible assets (8l (17}
Met cash provided by investing activity B14T 1267
Hetincrease [ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3476 L8561}
Change in cash and cash equbvalents in the year 1426 (L8681}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year [4,363) [2,502)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period (note B) [837] [4,363)
MOTE A; Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities

2023 2022

000 £'000
Het income [ (expenditure) for the year (per Statement of Financial Activities) 2344 (14,106)
Depreciation and amaortisation charges P 239
(Gam)/Lass oninvestments [3427) 12 91
Dividends, interest and rents from investments [3.901) [3,854)
(Increase) f Dacrease in debtors 44 (23]
[Decrease) f Increase in creditors B3 {401}
Cost of generating funds from endowed capital 187 282
Cash outflow from aperating activities {4.431) [5,106)

The cashflow statement has been restated for 2022 to improve the accuracy of presentation by including the cverdraft facility within
cash and cash equivalent on the face of the cashfiow. In prior years this was shown only in the note,

50 St John's Foundation Est. 1174



St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
NOTE B: Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cazh
Overdraft facility repayable on demand
Total

HOTE C: Analysis of changes in net debt

Cash
Owerdraft faglity repayable on demand

Loans falling due within one year
Loans falling due after one year
Total

At start of

il At end of year

£1000 £'000

102 1,102

[4.465) [2.038)
4,363} [936)
At start of year  Cash-flows At end of year
£'000 £000 £'000
102 1000 1102
4,465} 2427 (2,038)
[#,363) 3427 (536)
(202 [29) (173)
(LA20) [2E0) (1.5E0)
6. 385) 3138 [2,565)
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

Notes to the Financial Statements

Principal Accounting Policies

Consolid ation

The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the charity and its wholly owned subsidiary, 5t
John's Hospital Trading Company Ltd (‘the subsidiary’) for the yearended 31 December 2023. The results of the
subsidiary for the year are set out in note 13. The group will be referred to as “St John's' or ‘the charity” throughout these
financial statements. All intergroup sales and profits have been eliminated upon consolidation. The Mayor of Bath's
Relief Fund (Charity ref. 204649) has not been consolidated as, in line with the exemption granted by the Companies
Act 2006, its inclusion is not material for the purpose of giving a true and fair view. The appropriateness of this
treatment is reviewed annually.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice:
Accounting and Reporting by Charities preparing their financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland ('FRS102 SORP) and the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the United Kingd om and Republic of Ireland (‘'FRS102")(effective 15t January 2019) and the Charities
Act 2011 and UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,

5t John's Foundation Est. 1174 constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRSL0Z and is an unincorporated
Charity; its subsidiary is a limited company. The functional currency of the Group is sterling. The registered address of
both the Charity and its subsidiary is 4/5 Chapel Court, Bath, BAl 15Q. The country of incorporation for the subsidiary is
the United Kingdom.

Except as set out below, the financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention with items
recognised at cost or ransaction value, Freehold housing properties (operational properties) are shown at deemed
cost. Investment properties are shown at their revalued amounts and the investment portfolios are valued at closing
market values, These policies have been applied consistently throughout the current and prior year.

The results for the charity and reconciliation of funds are shown in notes 17 to 22. The Charity has also taken qualifying

exemptions available to a qualifying entity in FRS 102 from the requirement to present a Charity only cash flow
staterment.
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

Notesto the Financial Statements

Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Assessment of going concemn

The Charity considers that it has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and has adopted the going concem assumption in preparing these financial statements.

The trustees actively plan for the Charity to exist for many years, and this is reflected in the ap proaches taken to both
long-term planning of investrments and reserves, detailed above. These approaches (including the planned level of
unapplied total returns held by the Charity and the discretion that it has over its expend iture) mean that whilst heavily
reliant on investment retums, the trustees consider the Charity to be resilient to shorter-term volatility in its investments
and plans are in place to remain adequately resourced to meet the need of both present and future beneficiaries. To

provide ample headroom, overdraft facilities are in place which cover a reasonable worst-case scenario for cash flow
and if required, the financial investments could be liquidated.

Income recognition

Income is recognised when the charty has entitlement to the income, it is probable that the income will be received,
and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably. Dividend income is recognised when the dividend
has been declared. Interest on capital is recognised when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably. This
i upon netification by our investment advisors or the bank of the dividend or interest yield.

Rental income, from investment properties, is recognised over the term of the lease with any lease incentives spread
evenly over the lease term. Particular attention has been given this year to assessing the probability of receiving rental
income before it is recognised (see accounting policy "key sources of estimation uncertainty™). Almshouse income
represents fees from residents and other service user income and is credited to the unrestricted fund. It is recognised
in the period to which the almshouse residency relates on an accruals basis.

Donations and grants

Donations are accounted for when received. Donations subject to specific wishes of the donors are carried to the
relevant restricted fund.
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

Notesto the Financial Statements

Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Expenditure

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and is recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation
committing the charity to that expenditure, it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the
obligation can be measured reliably.

All costs have been directly attributed to one of the functional categories of expenditure in the SOFA The cost of
raising funds includes investment management costs, for both our listed and property investments. Expenditure on
charitable activities includes the cost of running our almshouses, cutreach services and our awards programme.
Please also refer to the paragraph below regarding the allocation of support costs to activities.

Funding awards payable

Funding awards payable are payments made to third parties in the furtherance of the charity’s objects. Inthe case of
anunconditional award offer this is accrued once the recipient has been notified of the award. Where performance-
related conditions are attached the cost of the award is not recognised until there is sufficient evidence that the
conditions will be met.

Individual awards are recognised on approval of the award. Multi-year awards for core funding are recognised in full
on approval of the award where there are no performance cond itions attached.

Irrecoverable VAT

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the SOFA or capitalised as part of the cost of the related asset, where appropriate. The
charnity has opted to charge tax on certain commercial properties and recovers the associated input VAT. All other
expenses are shown inclusive of non-recoverable VAT.

Allocation of support costs

General management expenses (including depreciation, property costs and the cost of supporting teams) and
govemance costs are apportioned between charitable activities and raising funds. The split of overheads is a close
reflection of the time spent on each activity. Govemance costs include audit and accounting fees, and Trustee
EXpPENSEs,
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5t John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

Motes to the Financial Statements

Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Gifts in kind , donated services or facilities and volunteers

These are estimated and included in the perod in which they are received. In accordance with the Charities SORP
(FRS102), volunteer time is not recognised in the SOFA More information about their contribution is explained in the
Trustee's annual report.

Intangible ficed assets

Intangible fixed assets are those which lack physical substance but provide an on-going economic benefit for the
charity. They are recognised at histaric cost and subsequently amortised so as to write off the cost over their expected
useful lives, as follows:

Website 3years/ 33% perannum

Software & brands 4 years [ 25% perannum

Tangible fixed assets

The limit above which assets are capitalised is £500 (forindivid ual purchases) and £1,000 (aggregated). Office and
computer equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles are stated at cost less depreciation and provision for
impairment. Depreciation is calculated towrite off the cost of such fixed assets over their expected useful lives; the
rate used for this purpose in the charity is 5% to 25% per annum on 2 straight line basis, depend ing on the asset. In the
trading company the rates vary from 109 to 33%.

Housing and administrative propertes

Housing and administrative properties are included in the financial statement as freehold fived assets. The cost of
freehold housing properties represents deemed cost at 15t January 2014 und er transition to FR3102, plus subsequent
additions at cost. Assets are stated at deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is calculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value of all tangible fixed assets,
other than freehold land, over their expected useful lives, using the straight-line method. The applicable rate is:
Freehold buildings 50 years / 2% per annum

Freehold land s not depreciated. Adepreciation rate of 2% is applied to the buildings’ cost, whic h is assessed to be
two thirds of the total property value less its residual value,
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

Motes to the Financial Statements

Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Fixed asset investments
Investment properties

The charity owns freehold properties and ground rents for long term investment. Inaccordance with FRS102 these are
included in the balance sheet at valuation at 31 December 2023, and the surplus or loss arising on revaluation has
been transferred to the relevant reserve, Ondisposal of investment properties, the net gain orloss on disposal is
calculated and transfemed to the relevant reserve. The gain or loss is calcultaed as the proceeds less book value at
the previous yearend |ess direct costs of disposal, such as agent and legal fees.

Quated investments
Investments are initially recognised at their transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value as at the
balance sheet date using the closing market bid price. The SOFA includes the net gains and losses arising on

reyaluation and disposals throughout the year. The surplus or deficit arising on revaluation has been credited or
charged to reserves, as approprate,

The charity does not have any derivatives or other complex financial instruments.

Social imvestments

Social investments are in the form of concessionary loans to third parties, which aim to generate a financial retum
whilst furthering the charitable aims of the charity. As such, they have been classified as mixed-motive investments,
These |oans are initially recognised at the amount d rawn down and the carrying amount then adjusted to reflect
capital repayments and any accrued interest and impairment in line with paragraph 21.26 of the FR5 102 S0ORP.
Imvestment in subsidiary

The investment in the subsidiary is held at cost

Taxation

The Charity does not pay tax, provided any surplus or gains are used for charitable purposes. For the subsidiary,

current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid {or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been
enacted at the balance sheet date.
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St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

Motes to the Financial Statements

Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

Fund accounting

Linrestricted funds are available to spend on activities that further any of the purposes of the charity. Restricted and
endowment funds are subject to specific restnctions imposed by the donor of the income or the Charity Commission,
Further explanation of each fund held by the charity is contained in notes 17-22 of these financial statements.,

Total return accounting

The Charity Commission permitted the charity to adopt the use of total retum in relation to its permanent end owment
on 25th September 2012. The power permits the Trustee to invest permanent end owments to maximise total retum
and to make available an appropriate portion to the total return for expend iture each year, Until this power is
exercised the total retumn shall be an‘unapplied total return’ and remain as part of the permanent endowment. The
Trustee has used the indexed values of the permanent end owment at 15t January 1995 to present the ‘preserved
value' of the original gift.

Financial instruments

The charity only has financial assets and financial liabil ties that qualify as basic financial instruments, Basic financial
instruments are initially recognised at transac tion val ue and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Financial
assets include the charity’s trade and other receivables. Financial liabilities include the charity’s trade creditors,
accruals and other creditors.

Debtors

Trade, other debtors and accrued income are recognised at the settlement amount due after any discounts offered.
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any discounts due.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash at bank comprise short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity of three months or less from
the date of acquisition or opening of the depaosit or similar account.
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Year ended 31 December 2023

Notesto the Financial Statements

Principal Accounting Policies ([continued)

Creditors
Creditors are recognised at their settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.
Pension costs

Employees of the charity are entitled to join a defined contribution scheme. The pension costs charged in the year
represent the amount of the contributions payable to the defined contribution scheme in respect of the accounting
period. The charity’s pension contributions for cument employees are charged to the SOFA in the yearin which the
contribution arises. The charity has no liability beyond making its contributions and paying across the deductions for
the employees’ contributions.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Revaluation of properties

The charity carmies its investment property at fair value, with changes in the fair value being recognised in the SOFA
Fairvalue is determined by independent valuation specialists using discounted cash flow models over an
appropriate period, with the net income in the final year capitalised into perpetuity. Allowances are made for voids
and the cost of management, repairs and maintenance. The discount rate used reflects the overall level of risk
associated with the income,

Useful economic lives of tangible assets

The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets (and amortisation for intangible assets) is sensitive to changes in
the estimated useful economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and resid ual values
are re-assessed annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect curment estimates, based on technological
advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the assets. See notes 10-12 for
the carrying amount of the property, land, plant and equipment.

Residual value of tangible assets

The residual value of operational properties has been estimated at 25% (the land on which the buildings are situated
is not depreciated). This estimate has been reached on the basis that, as sites are actively used by the charity, and the
majority are grade | and |1 listed, they are kept to a high standard of repair. It would therefore not be representative of
the assets’ ongoing worth to depreciate them fully.
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Hotes to the Financial Statements
5. Related party transactions and trustees’ expenses and remuneration

Transactions between the Charity and the Trading Subsidiary

in 2023, the Charity charged £97 481 (2001 £97 241) for the lease of 5t Catherine's Hospital to the Trading Company, and it charged £133,%23 (20232:
£133.931) for the lease of the House of 5t John's (1 Queen Square).

Also, costs relating to the Trading Company (such as insurance, utilities, repairs and staff time] were recharged to the Trading Company at cost. In
033, this amounted to £51,770 (3002: £85,409),

Al the year end, the Trading Co owed the Charity EL02m (2022 ETT2,000). This comprised of E4T2.908 in respect of rent and recharges (3022

£153.447), wninvoiced rent of Endl held as acorued Income by the Charity (2023 £125,000), the loan shown in Note 15 of E475,000 (20332: £475,000]
and ather sundry amounts owed lor recharges and interest socruals of E71,991 (£18,150).

Trustes expenses

During 2023, all the directors of the Trustee continued to give their time and expertie without any form of remuneration or other benelit in cash
of kind (2022: £ndl).

Expranses paid to the directors of the Trustes in 2023 totalled ELSTE (2023 £211), These expenses wore paid to s drectors (3022 one director]) for
traved and subsistence.

Trustes indemnity insuranoe was purchased by the charity on behalf of the Trustee. The sum insured was £5m in both 2022 and 2023, The cost of
the policy was £5,285 (2022; £5,285),

Other transs: tions with related parties are summarised as follews:

Payments made

Related party Mature of relatienship 1023 nx

£ £
Bath Busimess Improverment District Mr O Hokbedey s a Divectar and Chair - &.1E1
Curg Mrs H F Bosnell is a Director . 40,518
Tweran Infant Schoaol Mr O Hobdey is a Governor 39 B30 I8 BID
Mulberry Park Community Benefit Soclety Mrs H F Bosnell is a Director - 2 148
Bath and Marth East Samerset Third Sector Group  Me R Drbver 5 & Trustes 20,425

Irv 2028, Mr [ Hobdey [CEC of the Charity} was granted a short-term lence to occupy Flat 1 of Chandos House, at rmarket rent of £950 per month.
The market rent was in line with an independent letting agent’s valuation, The property wasvacant and still being marketed during this period,
with the licence to occupy being granted under the condition vewings would continue (o be carried out, and notice would be given if 2 buyer was
found. Total income of Endl (2022 £437) was received in the year, of which Enil {2022: £0) was due at the balance sheet date. The licence to occupy
lasted 50 days and Mr Hobdey moved out on 14012022

In 2023, the Charity held money as agent on behall of Bath Unlimited, a community interest initathe in which Mr D Hobdey is a director. A total of
£5,000 was recenved during the year, with a balance remaining of £9,340 at 31 December 2023 (2022: £4,340). Bath Unlimited wses I Queen Sguare
a5 its Registered Office for which there i no charge and used the House for evenits and meeting space for which Enil (2022:886T) of invoices were
ratsed by the trading company.

There were no iransactions with the Trustee or other related parties during the year, other than those disclosed above (2022: nenel. Mo balanges
were outstanding bo or from related parties at the year-end (2022 nonel
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Motes to the Financial Statements

1. Comparative Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities

Income and endowmaents from:
Charitable activities
Investment income
Other trading activities
Donatsxns and legacies
Transfer to income

Total income

Expenditure:

Expenditure on chasitable activities:
Residential care & support
Funding and impact

Total expenditure on charitable activities

Cost of raigng funds
Dther expenditure

Total expenditure

Hatincomae | (expenditure) before investment (losses] | gains

Het gains / (lesses) on investments

Mat income

Transfers between funds

Net income and net movement in funds

Reconciliation of funds:
Tokal funds brought foreard
Total funds camied forward

Tatal
Unrestricted Restricted Endaswment 2022
fund fumds fund
£'000 £'ond ‘000 (]
Al4 = : Bi4
- 7 3,451 3,558
a0 - ()
i 3 E 3
3521 - [3.521) +
5,005 10 30 5,345
15675 19 113 1,507
1.963 5 1.568
3635 24 113 3. 715
1,759 . 282 2,041
aT4 BT4
6,071 4 355 6,490
{1,066) (14} (&5] {1,145]
5 x (12 961} (12561}
{1, DEE) (14 {13,026} (14,108}
i1,066] (14) (13,026) [14,106]
3636 52 122433 136,511
2,570 38 10,797 113,405
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Hetes to the Financial Statements

i Ingame

2a. Inwestment income

Fermanent
Consolidated Unrestricted o ctrictedfund  endowment 2023 2022
fund
fund
] L0050 ] ] 000
Commercal investrrent properties : - 1,762 1782 1548
Residential investment properties . - THD TED ]
Property investment incame . . 1,542 1,542 1,651
intenest recered on social investment . - 4 4 5
Listed wrvestments 1 ] 1,346 1355 L300
Interest on cash deposits . - - -
Mon-property investment Incams 1 ] 1,350 1,359 1,205
Total 1 B 3,892 3,901 3,858

Ik, Dapatiens and legacies including povernment grants

Mo gowvernment funding or donatians fram ather charitable foundstions wene recenved in 2023 . In 3022 a general grant was received Irom anather
charitable foundation. All other donations were small amounts received through the year,

1. Total espenditure on charitable activities

Staffcosts  Depreciation Crihver costs 1023 FLaFF|
£'000 £'000 E'000 £'000 £'000
Cilder sdults serices ax7 158 1,308 2391 1808
Fumding and impact gT2 16 1087 2578 1567
Total 1,499 174 3,293 4,964 3,715
4, Tetal cost of ralsing funds
Staff costs Deprecistion Crehver couts 2023 2022
£'000 E"0D0 E'DioaD E£'000 E"OD0
Propeiy investment management (o515 193 ] a7 1003 1907
Orther invesEmant management costs - - 132 132 134
Total 158 8 229 1,135 2,041
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Hotes to the Financial Statements

5, Other sxpenditurs
Staff costs  Depreciation Other costs 1023 friir)
E'000 E'0D £000 £'000 E'00D
Trading expenditune 125 55 513 93 BT
Tatal 125 55 513 03 ET4
6. Governance costs

The chasity identifies the costs which relate to the charity's governance function and these are recorded as part of the total costs of raising fands
{oee nobe 4} and expendiune on charitable actmiies (See pote 3) and such costs are redarded in other expenditure when inouned bythe Trading

Company, Governance costs anre detalled as fol lows:

Auditor fees fincluding irrecoverable VAT):

: for audit services

Accpuntancy and other professional sendoes
Trustes expenses

Canparation tax payable by trading company

Therse hanee besin Split SE005S SeTivithes:

Older adults serdces
Fusnding and impa<t
Propety aperational costs
Other expenditune

2023 2012
£'0040 £'0ad
i | 2
i 3

T &
57 19
11 L3
1z 5
T 1&

& .
5T i

Auditer fees for audit services as stated abowe include irrecoverable AT and are dependent upon best estimates of accreed costs. In 3022, actual

fees (net of VAT) were E18 800 (203F: £18 T00).

7. Funding and impact

Indisidual funding
Qrgansational funding
Fuending suppodt costs

iR LR
£ 00 " 0o

5T 235
1268 1,144
L150 585
1575 1,968

5 John's awarded grants to 8 number of indhwdieals and organisations in furtherance of its ch aritable acthaties. During 2023, & total of 44 (2022:
40} new awards wene made (o organksatiens. For awards payable to individuals, the masimum amowent payable 5 usually £1,800 over Dwo years

(20EE: E1,500 over Dad year)
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T, Fundimg and impact [continued)

Recipients of organisational funding swards:

All organisation awards with & combined votal of £15,000 or over paid in the year to charitable groups as part of the £1. 268,000 abowve are shown

Ipelaw.

Project

PEP Emotional & Behavioural Support

Language for Life Plot
PEF Oracy Support

Roundhill Reading and Writing Suppoert
Castie Primary Schoo! Reading and Writing Support

Early Hurture Sendoe Plot
Glasshouse Activity Club

5t Michael's Reading and Writing Suppart

Dolt Codeworkers 723 - 2026

5t Martin's Garden Reading and Weiting Suppo
Ageing Well - Bath & North East Somerset

Twertan Infants Reading and Writing Support

St Keyna Reading and Writing Support

Health Improvemaent Officer - Food Powerty

PEP free school meals and broakfast club provision
PEP free school meals and breakfast club provision
Mo Child Should Go Hungry in BENES 2021-20322

M Child Should Go Hungry in BANES 2021-2032

Language for Life Plot

St Mary's Writhlington Reading and Writing Suppart

Trauma Counselling - PEWP
PEF Numeracy Support

Children and Young People’s Netwoark
PEP Reading and Writing Suppart
PEP free school meals and breaklast club provisian

Organisation

Brighter Futures

BANES Council

HCRG Care Graup

Rosndhill Primary School

Castle Primary School

Brighter Futures

Bath Recreation Limfed

51 Machaels Junkor School
Citirens Advice

52 Martin's Garden Primary Schoel
Age UK Bath & Narth East Somerset
Twerton Infants School

52 Keyna Primary School

BENES Counci

Roundhill Prmary School

Castle Primary Schaol

FareShare South West

Fareshare South West

BANES Councl

S2 Mary's Primary Schaol Writhlingtan
Bright Start Childrens Centre
White Rose Education

BENES Councl

Ruth Mitvkin

St Keyna Primary School

Amaount (£])
£150,074
£75,702
D67 654
60,100
E57.000
51443
E50,000
EAT 500
AT 000
40 0
£40,500
£38,100:
E3T 100
f3e548
£32,791
29682
05 o
L0500
9,661
E29 080
E24,752
E23 989
£23.101
£33 EGD
ElA51%

Duering the year £19 381 was relunded to the chasty being a grant paad out to Develaping Health & Independence in 2022 refunded in line

with the grant agreement (2023 £nd],
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T. Fundimg and impact [continued)

Recipients of organisational funding swards:

All organisation awards with & combined votal of £15,000 or over paid in the year to charitable groups as part of the £1. 268,000 abowve are shown

Ipelaw.

Project

PEP Emotional & Behavioural Support

Language for Life Plot
PEP Oracy Support

Roundhill Reading and Writing Suppoert
Castie Primary Schoo! Reading and Writing Support

Early Murture Service Plot
Glasshouse Activity Club

5t Michael's Reading and Writing Suppart

Dolt Codeworkers 723 - 2026

5t Martin's Garden Reading and Weiting Suppo
Ageing Well - Bath & North East Someérset

Twertan Infants Reading and Writing Support

St Keyna Reading and Writing Support

Health Improvemaent Officer - Food Powerty

PEP free school meals and broakfast club provision
PEP free school meals and breakfast club provision
Mo Child Should Go Hungry in BENES 2021-20322

M Child Should Go Hungry in BANES 2021-2032

Language for Life Plot

St Mary's Writhlington Reading and Writing Suppart

Trauma Counselling - PEWP
PEF Numeracy Support

Children and Young People’s Netwoark
PEP Reading and Writing Suppart
PEP free school meals and breakfast club provision

Organisation

Brighter Futures

BANES Council

HCRG Care Graup

Rosndhill Primary School

Castle Primary School

Brighter Futures

Bath Recreation Limfed

51 Machaels Junkor School
Citirens Advice

52 Martin's Garden Primary Schoel
Age UK Bath & Narth East Somerset
Twerton Infants Schaa

52 Keyna Primary School

BENES Counci

Roundhill Frimary School

Castle Primary Schaol

FareShare South West

Fareshare South West

BANES Councl

S2 Mary's Primary Schaol Writhlingtan
Bright Start Childrens Centre
White Rose Education

BENES Councl

Ruth Mitvkin

%2 Keyna Primary School

Amaunt [£)
£250,078
£78,702
E6T 654
L6010
£SO
51743
E50,0040
E4T 500
E4T 0D
41 50
£40,000
£38,100
E3T 100
£36.548
§32,7%1
29 682
15,004
25,000
29,661
E29 08
E24, 752
E23 8%
E23.101
£22 860
£19,513

Duering the year £19 381 was relunded to the chasty being a grant paad out to Develaping Health & Independence in 2022 refunded in line

with the grant agreement (2022 £nil],
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B, Stadf coats snd remunerstion of key mansgement perisnnel

2023 2033
Y000 '
Wages and salanies 1518 1526
Socia security costs 151 155
Parsian oozt L4 158
Other employes benefits 1A 18
Terminiation and redund ancy costs " o
Agency stalf costs i ]
LEST 1,926

Thee termination and redundancy costs in 2027 relate solely 1o amounits paid under agresment on termination of employment and incdudes
salary costs im lieu of notice, Thene were no terminations of employment in the year (2022; threel All amounts had been fully paid by the balance
sheet date. Costs are recognised when there is an obligation to make the redundancy or termination payment.

The averapge number of persens employed by the Group derng the vear and the pricr year was:

2023 2022

Aimber nismber

CHder Bdults seraoes L4 14
Funding & impact 4 5
Wanagemenl, adminsiramn & ather 2 2
Trading acthities 3 2
43 43

Thee Fudber of employees whate &maluments werns i endess af E60,000 par lﬂ'II"IHI-'I'I,'Eﬂ:h.IIﬁ'I', pERERaN COSLE A H'I'lplﬂ'ﬂ'l"i- HH:JHI within (he
Tellawing bands:

2023 FUFF]

number number

E60.001 - ET0,000 i i
BEQC0L - EHL000 i i
50,001 - £160,000 Fi i
E300,001 - £ 830,000 . i
ERLO000 - E130,000 1 %
5 &

5t Jahin's gongiders its key managemaent pevsonnel to comprise the directors of the Truster and the exeouthe team, The smployer pension
cantributicns made in respect of key managemaent personnel to the defined contribution scheme amounted to £30,000 [2027: £35.0000,

Wi enhanced or special terms apply and there she Ao sElionsl pension arrangements fisr these employess. The total employment benelits,
including emplayer pension and Axnsl nsurance contrbutang ol the kay manpgement parsonnel weng CIT0000 (3022: {157,0000.
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5. Related party transactions and trustees’ expenses and remuneration

Transactions between the Charity and the Trading Subsidiary

In 2023, thie Chardty charged £97 481 [(2022: £97 241) for the lease of 51 Catherine's Haspital to the Trading Company, and it charged £133.0923 (2022:
£133,931} for the lease of the House of 5t John's (1 Queen Square],

Alsa, costs relating to the Trading Company (such as insurance, utiities, repairs and staff time) were recharged to the Trading Company at cost In
2023, this amounted to £91,770 (2022: £85,405).

At the year end, the Trading Co owed the Charity £1.02m (2022: £772,000), This comprised of £472,908 in respect of rent and recharges (2022:
£153,447), uninvoiced rent of £ndl held as accrued income by the Charity (2022 £125,000], the loan shown in Note 15 of E475,000 (2032: £475,000)
and ather sundry amounts owed for rechanges and mnterest acornuals of £71,991 (E16.150],

Trustes expenses

Duirimg 2023, all the directors of the Trustee continued to give their time and expertise without any farm of remu neration or other benefit in cash
or kind [2023: Emil ).

Expenses pald to the directors of the Trustes in 2023 totalled EL5T2 (2032 £211). These expenses were pald to six directors (2022: gne director) for
travel and subsstence.

Trustee indemnity msurance was purchased by the charity on behalf of the Trustee, The sum insured was E5m in both 2032 and 2023, The cost of
the policy was £5,285 (2023: £5,285),

Other transactions with related parties are summarised as follows:

Payments made

Related party Mature of relationship 2023 2022

£ i
Bath Business Irmprovement District Mr D Hobdey is a Director and Chair - 6,181
Curg Mrs H F Bosnell is a Director - 40,513
Twerton Infant School Mr O Hobdey s a Gowernar 39,530 38840
Mulberry Park Community Benefit Sockety Mrs H F Bosnell b5 a Divector - 2,144
Bath and Morth East Somerset Third Sector Growp  Mr R Driver is a Trustee 20415

In 2021, Mr D Hobdey [CEQ of the Charity] was granted a short-term licence to occupy Flat 1 of Chandos House, at market rent of £950 per month,
The market rent was in line with an independent letting agent’s valuation, The property was vacant and still being marketed during this period,
wiith the licence te occupy being granted under the condition viewings would continue to be carried aut, and notice would be given i a buyer was
found. Total income of Dndl (2023 £437) was received in the year, of which Enil (2023 £0] was due at the balance sheet date. The licence to occupy
lasted 50 days and Mr Hobdey moved out on 140072028

In 2023, the Charity held money as agent on behalf of Bath Unlimited, a community interest initative in which Mr O Hobdeyis a director. A total of
ES,000 was recapasd during the year, with 3 balance remaining of £9,340 at 31 December 2023 (2022 £4,340], Bath Unlimited uses | Queen Square
as its Registered Office for which there is no charge and used the House for events and meeting space for which £nil (J022:£667) of invoices were
rased by the trading company,

There were nd transactions with the Trustee or other related partees during the year, ather than thase disclosed above (2022: none). Ho balances
were outstanding to or from related parties at the year-end (2022 nonel,
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10, Intangible assets

Consolidated and charity Consolidated Charity
2023 2023
] E'000

Cost

At 1 January 3023 140 118

Additions -] 8

Disposals - -

AL 31 Decermnber 2023 148 127

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2023 101 54
Charge 17 10
Eliminated on disposal - .
At 31 December 2023 18 104
Het book value

At 31 Decermnber 2023 L] 23
At 31 December 2022 as 5
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11. Tangible assets - freehold property

Citycontre Combe Park Operational Magdalen

CaoR - almshouses  almshouse  properties chapel ki
£"000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Costjvaluation
At 1 January 223 8926 3,749 2,881 4T 15,313
Additions 50 - - - 0
Disposals - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 8976 3,745 2,891 47 16,363
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 223 3858 E £ 219 a5 4,604
Charge for the year 55 a7 30 1 125
At 31 December 2003 4043 354 249 12 4,733
Het book value
At 31 December 2023 4933 3380 2,542 LIE] LL530
At 31 December 2022 4938 3417 2672 682 11,709
Charity City centrée Combe Park Operational Magdalen Yotal
almshouses  almshouse  properties chapel
£'000 £'000 £'000 E'D0Q £'000
Cost/valuation
At 1 January 2023 BA3T 3,749 2,891 T4T 16,324
Additions 50 - : : 50
Disposals - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 Ba&T 3,749 2,891 T4T 16,374
Accumulated depreciation
At l January 2023 3987 33z i L 65 4,603
Charge for the year 55 37 30 1 129
At 31 Decermber 2023 4043 369 249 T2 4,732
Het book value
At 21 December 2023 4945 3380 2,542 §15 L6542
At 31 December 2022 4 950 3417 2672 642 11,721
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12, Dther tangible fixed assets

Office Fixtures and Computer

hanpi equipment fittings sy stems .
£'000 £'000 £"000 E'D0D
Cost
At 1 January 2023 28 LEL 63 L FL
Additions - 301 1& i)
Disposas . . - -
At 31 Decernber 2023 28 1,036 L) 1,143
Accumulated depreciation
At1 January 2023 24 451 4 513
Charge for the year . BQ 1l 2l
Eliminated on disposal - - - -
At 31 Decernber 2023 28 541 35 &G04
Het book value
At 31 December 2023 - 445 44 539
At 31 Decermber 2022 - 274 39 313
Charity Office H:I‘IZI.IIIIII'II' Computer Total
equipment fittings systems
£'000 £'000 £°000 E'D00
Cost
Al 1 January 2023 28 502 ar 577
Additions . 287 16 303
Disposals - - - -
AL 31 December 2023 28 T8o a3 aa
Accumulated depreciation
ALl January 3023 28 q18 19 &ES
Charge for the year ‘ 35 7 41
Eliminated on disposal : : - -
At 31 Decernber 2023 28 453 i c] 507
Het book value
At 31 December 2023 - 336 ET) 373
At 31 December 20232 - B4 28 112
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13, Financial and property investments

Consolidated Investment Listed
property  investments Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
Market value at 1 January 2023 62,798 43,641 106,439
Additions to investments at cost o 14,733 14,837
Disposal proceeds net of transation costs {12,694) (6,9324) (19,618)
Gains 1551 LETG 2427
Movement in cash held by brokers for 2 15 15
refmvestment
Market value at 31 December 2023 21,748 53,341 105, )

All investments are carriad at their fair value. Investments in equities and fixed interast securities are all traded on public
markets, The fair value for quoted investments is the market value, using the bid price, The charity's commercial investment
properties were re-valued by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, Chartered Surveyors, on the basis of discounted cash flow at 31
December 2003, The value of the residential properties is based on the revaluation of the portfolio by Jones Lang LaSalle
Limited on & market value basis as at 31 December 2023, In 2022, however, 3 decision had been made to dispose of three
blocks of residential property as investment portfolio assets. The fair value of these assets was determined on the basis of

miarket value on the assumption of a sale of a whole portfolio with temants i situ, and not on an indidual sale with vacant
possession basis (as in previous years and in 2023) as this was deemed to better reflect the fair value to the charity as at 31
December 2022, The impact of this change in accounting estimate was a decrease in the asset value of £4,554 000 which was
shown as a loss on investment value in the S0FA in 2022, The remaining residential investment properties were re-valued by
Philip Jennings, Chartered Surseyors on a market value approach based on vacant possession and indiidual sale as at 31
December 2022, The sale did not ocour and the decision was made to sell the properties with vacant pessession on a

piecemeal basis,

Social investments also farm part of the charity’s investments (note 14).,

Charity Trading Investment Listed
subsidiary property  investments Tatal
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Market value at 1 January 2023 50 62,798 43,641 106,489
Additions to investments at cost - ™ 14,733 14,837
Disposal proceeds . {12,694) {B,924) (19,618)
Gaing - 1551 LETG 2437
Movement in cash held by brokers for - - 15 15
reinwestment
Market value at 31 December 2023 &0 51,745 53,341 105,140
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11. Financial and property investments |continwed)

The charity owns the entire share capital of St John's Hospital Trading Company Ltd, a company incarporated in England and
Wales - company regstration number 08532453, The share capital of 51 John's Hospital Trading Company Lid comprises

50,000 erdnary shares of E1, which are all whally owned by the charity, The principal activities of 5t John's Hospital Trading
Company Ltd are to manage serviced apartments and coworking space,

2013 2012
The trading results of the subsidiary were as follows: E'000 E'000
Turnover 805 558
Cost of sales - -
Gross profit 805 5Sa8
Adminkstrathe expenses {57] {43)
Operational expenses [T59) (856
Other income - -
Operating [loss)/profit 11} (311
Intirast payable §43) {24)
(Loss)/profit before tax i=4) (335)
Taxation - -
(Loss)/profit after tax 154] [235)
The aggregate of the azsets, liabilities and funds as at 31 December was: 2023 2022
E£'D00 L'000
Total assets 608 481
Total liabilities [1.075] [a5%)
Shareholders’ funds {471 [418]

The charity also owns the entire share capital of 5t John's Hospital Design and Build Lid, a company ncorporated in England
and Wales - company registration number 15213021 The share capital of 5t John's Hospital Design and Build Ltd comprises 1
ardinary share of £1, which i wheolly owned by the charity, This company is has not traded and is currently dormant but was
established to act a5 a design and build company for the future construection projects and so may trade in the future,

14. Sgcial investments
Consolidated and charity 2013 2012
E'000 E'000
Mixed mothe investments:
Receivable in more than one year 68 T
Recevable in less than one year - 32
2] &

The mixed motive investment abowve represents a new loan issued on 1st December 2023 to a single party. This loan replaced
two concessionary loans to that same single party drawn down together on 28th October 2015. Each of the leans is secured
by a legal charge over freehold property and charged interest at a rate of 4%

At the year end there were no amounts committed but endrawn [2022: nll}, and no amownts that had been approved subject
to the agreement of terms [2022; nil),
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15. Debtors

Consolidated

Trade debtors

Prepayments and accrued income
Taxation and social security

Other debtors

Charity

Trade debtors

Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

Amounts owed by subsidiary

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
258 579
869 592

7 g
1,134 1,180
216 441
796 573
7 9
1,040 172
2,059 1,795

Included within consolidated prepayments and acorued income are lease incentive adjustments of E294,000 (2022: £163,000),
of which E257,000 are due in more than one year (2022: E211,000), Within amounts owed by the subsidiary is E475,000 of a loan
(2022: E475,000) and £8,000 of interest accruing against this (2022: £0). The loan agreement was entered on an arms length
basis at a market rate of interest (4.2% above base) and the Charity has taken a charge over the assets of the trading company
a3 security. The loan agreement provides for up to £450,000 to be drawdown on loan which is repavable in equal instalments
aver B years from September 2022, One repayment was made of £5,000 in the year but the remaining loan repayments hawve
been deferred. At the year end £140,000 of the loan was due in more than one year. Also included within amounts owed to

subsidiary are prepayments and accrued income of £72,000 (2022; £200,000 reclassified from prepayments and accrued

income). Offsetting trade debtors is a bad debt provision of £154,000 (2022: £114,000).
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16a. Credivors: amounts falling due within ene year

2033 2032

Consolidated g ilei] £'000
Bank overdrafts 2 D38 4 455
Loans repayable upon demand 173 202
Trade creditors it 93
Accruals and deferred incame 46T 537
Taxation and social Lecurity 118 75
Other ereditors 11E B4

3284 3656

Charity £"000 £'000
Bank overdrafts 2036 4 464
Laans repayable upon demand 173 202
Trade creditors ELL 1%
Accruals and deferred income 46% 515
Taxation and social security 124 T
Other creditors a6 &3
3,245 5534

The bank overdrafts are repayable on demand and reviewed annually and relate to two facilities. One is a facility of up to £3m
secured against those investment assels of the Charity managed by Evglyn Partners These asels were valued at E28.Tm af
the year end with borrowing agalnst this of £2.038m at 31 December (2022: £2.030m). The second overdraft faclity of up ta
EL.5m was not in use at year end (2032 £2.33Tm) but was svailable for use and & secured against investment properties
valued at £3.5Tm as at 31 Decomnber 2023, The loans repayable on demand are amounts due to lfetime leasehald tenants for
their leases which is repayable when the propertbes are vacated,

Inclugded within other creditors is £29,000 {2022: £14,000) representing the amount held as agent far a small unincorporated
voluntary organisaticn called Bath Woman's Fund and £9,.360 (2023 £4,000) for Bath Unlimited for which St Jehn's
Foundation has agreed to administer lunds and act a5 an agent. The monies in represented grants totalling £10,000 from the
lecal authority less two payments made on behalf of Bath Unlimited, induding one to the trading company for room hire. No
other amounts were recehved or paid ocut in the year in refation to these funds. in the first guarter of 2024, a further £5,000
was received and all monies were paid acrods to Bath Unlimited and the agency arrangement opased.

Deferred moome movement:
Charity Graup

e i] E'00d
Balance at 1 January 2023 165 365
Amount released in the year {1581} (1,785}
Amount deferred in the year 1,916 L&TS
Balance at 31 Decemnber 2033 300 51

Deferred income i made up of rental income received in advance of the accounting peried to which it relates.

16b., Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

013 2023
Consolidated and charity 000 £'000
Loans repayable upon demand 1,560 1830
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175, Invested endowment fund

The permanent invested endowment fund represents the funds of the charity derived from gifts and legacies received since its
foundation, itis to be held and maintained in perpetuity. Investment income and surpluses ordeficits arsing an the sale or
revaluation of investment properties and investments are transferred to the permanent endowment fund. Expenses incurmed in the
administration or protection of the endowment investments are charged to the fund. From 15t January 2013, the Trustee has adopted
the use of total return accounting in relation to its investment.

Total retum investment

The investrment power of total return was granted by the Charity Commission on 35th September 2012, The power permits the Trustee
ko invest permanent endowments to maximise total returm and to make available an appropriate portion of the total retumn for
expenditure each year. Until this power is exercised in full, that portion of the total reburn which is in excess of the amount required to
preserve the value of the permanent endowment, shall be an ‘unapplied total return® and remain as part of the permanent
endowment. The Trustee has used the indexed values of the permanent endowment at 1st January 1995 to represent the ‘preserved
value' of the original gift.

Under specific powers in the poverning Scheme, the Trustee monitors the investment performance in terms of maintaining the
purchasing power of the core endowment against inflation, while enabling the charity to commit to a long-term spending rate of 4%
of the three-year average value of the permanent endowment.

The amounts set as opening unapplied return, togetherwith the amount allocated to income in the year from the unapplied total
retum, and the amount of unapplied total returm allocated to capitalin the reporting period [in order to maintain the real value of the
original gift) are disclosed below.
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17a. invested endowment fund {continued)

Pesten anent
Consalidated Ened i e T Umapplied
fund tovtad retum Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
At Jamuary 2032 45,380 4,583 110,263
Movements in the reporting period:
Investment income . 3,851 1,851
Realised and unrealised gaing - 112,953) {12,953}
Less: property operational and investment management costs - (82} [283)
Total return for the year - 19,152 {9,152}
Unagplied total return allocated to incomae . i(3,521) (3,521}
CP1Uplsft 4 TES [4,T65) .

4,765 (17.428) [12,673)
AR 1 Jamnuary H0EY 50,145 47.21% 9T 358
Movements in the reporting period:
Investment income - 3,852 3,882
Rialised and unrealised losses - 3430 3,430
Less: property operational and investment management costs - WLBT) [187]
To'tal return for the year - 1135 7,135
Uinapplied total retum allocated to income - (4,500 14.500)
CPiuplift 2,006 [2,006) *

2006 629 2,635
AL 31 Decernber 2023 52,151 4T B4 90 00%

The abave ligures exclude the lunctional endowment fund (note 17h) and the Rasbugh endowment lund [note 18),
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17a. Invested endowment fund (continued]

Permsnent
Charity endowment  Unapplied
fund  tokal return Total

£°000 £°000 £"000
At 1 January 2022 45 350 65,0688 110,468
Movements in the reporting period:
Investment income . 4,083 4,083
Realised and unrealised gains - (12 953} (12,953)
Less: property opefational and investment management costs - [282) {282)
Total return far the year - (@.152] [9,152)
Unappled total retum allocated t income - {3.521) {3,521)
Pl wplify 4,765 {4, 785) -

4,765 (17 438) (12,673)
At 1 January 1015 50,145 41,650 qy¥, M5
Mowvements in the reporting period:
Imvestment Income - 3,949 1,999
Realised and unrealised losses - 3428 bl
Less: praperty operational and investment management oosts - (187 {18T)
Total return for the year - T340 T.adh
Unapplied total retum albecated fo income - 4,500 {4,500)
CPluplift 4,006 (2.006] -

2,006 T34 1,740
At 31 December 2023 52 151 A0 354 100,535

The above figunes exclude the functional endowment fund (note 170 and the Roxburgh endowment fund (note 18],
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17b. Functional endowment fund

The functional endowment is that pant of the endowment which is held for operational, rather than investment purposes, and is
therefare not included In total returm calculathons, The assets which make up the functional endowment are those which were
almshouses at the time the 2002 Scheme was approved (Chapel House, Figjocetyn [ John Wosd House, Rosenberg House, Chandos
House, Combe Park), and Magdalen Chapel, The functional endowment also includes £1.873m (20@Y: £1.924m) et aside for future
almshouse provision under the 2017 Scheme when the change of use of Chandos and 5t Cathenne’s was approved,

Charity & Consolidated 2013 2012
£'000 £'000
Balance brought forward 12,306 12430
[Deefizit) {114} [114)
Transfers - -
Balance carried forward 11,15: 11306
18, Roxburgh endowment fund
Consolidated and charity 023 2032
£'000 £'000
Balance brought forward 132 140
Valuation (losses) (3 18}
Balance carried forward 129 132

The Roxburgh permanent endowment fund has been shown separately in these notes as, unlike the rest of the charity's endowed
funds, the income from this fund has a restricted purpose: to provide relief for single woman over the age of 50 in the Bath area.
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19, Unrestricted fund
The unnestricted fund is the retained annual Surplus of investrment incorme over the deficit on the provision of almshouse

accommadation, the cost of grants and community outresch sctivities. Surpluses are svailable at the discretion of the Trustes for
maintenance of the permanent endowment and other purposes to achieve the chantable abjectives of the chasdty.

2023 2023
Consolidated £"000 E'000
Operating result {4,665} {4,586}
Total return transfer from permanent endowment 4,500 1531
fund
Transfer of functionally endowed asset additions - -
Mt movemant in the year [165) (1,065)
Balance brought forward 2,571 3,636
Balance carried forward 2,406 3,571
Charity
Operating result (4,715} (4,478}
Total return transfer from permanent endowment 4,500 31521
fund
Transfer of functionally endowed asset additions . -
Met movement in the year (218} (357}
Balance brought forward 4,618 3,575
Balance carrbed forward 2,402 2 E1E
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20. Restricted funds

Consolidated and charity (as at 31 December 2023)

Balance brought fonsand
Incame

Expenditune

Balamce carried forward

Consolidated and charity (as at 31 December 2022)

Joseph
Matthess Fapding
Foundation  Roxburgh Britsin  Various funds Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
23 14 1 - 14
. 8 1 15 15
{13} {4) 1} (26) (44}
10 1B 1 4
Joseph
M-atthasws Feeding Infectian
Foundation  Roxburgh Britain  Conmtrol Fund Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
a0 12 52
¥ ) 2 1 10
(17} (5] (1 (1] (24}
23 14 1 H

The resinicted fund for Roxburgh relates to net income received fram the Roxburgh endowment (see Nobe 18 abowve)

A restricted legacy was prowided to the charity to support 5t John's in commuenity outreach activities forthose in Bath over 75 years of

Balance brought forward
Income
Expenditure
Balance carried forward
Rouburgh
Joseph Matthews Foundation
age.
Various Funds

During the year the charity recelved donations for spedfic resident meals and activities which were spentin year, These tatalled less
that £1,000. Bath & Morth East Somerset Councll also paid £25,000 towards a Blg Educatbon project which was also spent in year.

21. Transfers

Transfer of unapplied total returm to income

Endowmaent Urirestricted

fiend fund
£'000 £'000
(4,500) 4,500

79

St John's Foundation Est. 1174



St John's Foundation Est. 1174
Year ended 31 December 2023

Hotes to the Financial Statements

22, Analysis of net assets between funds

Consolidated

As at 31 December 2023

Tanpible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Investments

Social investments

Cash and bank balances
Dther current assets and
liabilities

Consolidated

Az at 31 December 2022

Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
investments

Social investments

Cash and bank balances
Other current assets and
liabilities

imvested Functional Raxburgh Restricted
endowmaent endowment endowment fund Unrestricted Total
fund fund fund fund
£'000 £'000 E'000 £'000 E'000 E'000
10,319 1,850 12,189
- - - 30 an
99,925 129 5,035 105,080
&R = - - - 64
1,873 29 (B00) 1,102
2 p {3,710} (3,710
99 003 12192 129 29 2 406 114,749
invested  Functional Raxburgh Restricted
endowmaent endowment endowment fund Unrestricted Total
furd fumd fund furd
£'000 £'000 E£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
10,382 1,640 12,022
97,258 132 o, 045 106,439
53 - - - 39
- 1,524 - 38 {1,860) 102
(6,296} (6,296
97,358 12,306 132 34 2,571 112 404
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13. Charitable and capital commitment:

Capital expenditure commitments: 2023 1022
£'0040 £'000

Legal commitment te build almshouses 1,673 1,524
LET3 1,504

The begal commitment with the Charity Commission to build almshouses is also reflected in the lunctional endowment fund
imote 17h).

The charity acts as lessor for its commercial and residential investrment property portfollos and is contractually entitled ta

receive future income, The fluture minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases expected Lo be received
by thecharity and Group are due as ballows:

2023 2012
E'0aa E'000
Within oneyear 1,3 1,862
Between oneand five years 3,229 5109
After five years 13, 265 11,17

The charity leases parking spaces for staff using the head office. The futureminimurn lease payments wnder non-cancellable
operating leases by the charity and Growp are due as follows:

1023 1022
£'000 £'000
Within oneyaar 34 L]
Batwesn ane and five years 5 3%
At theyear end thecharity had the following conditional grant-making comemitments:
Within one year 1,164 103
Between oneand fiveyears 50 50

4. Pensions

The charity operates a defined contributicn scheme for the benefit of the employess. During theyear E14% 000 [202E
1430000 was payable into the defined contribution scheme. The amount due at theyear end was E18.000 (2002 £17.000),
Included within ‘pension costs’ tn note B are pension scheme management fees payable of £14,000 (2002: £14,000].
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